STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-000144
Circuit Court Case No. 2002-GS-10-7745

RECEIVED
JUN 06 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

ANTHONY DEANGELO GOODWIN

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JEREMY A. THOMPSON

Attorney and Counselor at Law
Law Office of Jeremy A. Thompson, LLC
P.O. Box 1834
Irmo, SC 29063
803-779-2555
803-753-9732 FAX
jeremyatlaw@yahoo.com

TRICIA A. BLANCHETTE

Attorney at Law
P.O. Box 2147
Leesville, SC 29070
803-908-3266

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court erred in concluding that no motion for a new trial was ever filed by the Appellant in a timely manner?

II.

Whether the trial court erred in denying defense counsel's motion to be relieved as counsel due to a conflict of interest?

III.

Whether the trial court erred in admitting evidence that the Appellant's trial attorney previously represented one of the State's witnesses, Darrell Royal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December 2002, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted the Appellant for the murder of Freddie Green. The Appellant proceeded to trial by jury on this charge on January 6-9, 2003, before the Honorable Paul M. Burch. He was represented at this proceeding by James W. Smiley, IV, Esquire. At the conclusion of the trial, the Appellant was found guilty as charged. Judge Burch sentenced the Appellant to life imprisonment. On the sentencing sheet, Judge Burch specifically noted that the Appellant's post-trial motions were reserved for a later date.

In a related matter, the Appellant filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief with the Charleston County Clerk of Court's Office on August 31, 2005. An order dismissing the PCR without prejudice was filed on September 26, 2007. The order dismissed the PCR due to pending post-trial motions.

On March 5, 2014, Tricia A. Blanchette, Esquire, was substituted as counsel for the Appellant in General Sessions proceedings below. In March 2017, the Appellant filed a motion for a new trial pursuant to Rule 29(a) and (b), SCRCrimP. A hearing was convened on these motions on August 31, 2017, before Judge Burch. By order filed January 19, 2018, Judge Burch denied all requests for a new trial.

The Appellant timely served a notice of appeal on January 31, 2018. The Appellant now contends that his conviction and sentence should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS ADDUCED AT TRIAL

Around approximately 10:30 P.M. on December 12, 2000, the victim, Freddie Green, was shot in the back of the head outside George's Sweet Shop, a bar and poolhall located in Charleston. The gunshot resulted in his death.

Witnesses who were at the scene described a relatively calm atmosphere prior to the shooting. See ROA pp. 69-71; Trial Tr. pp. 170-172 (Wilhemina Bailey); ROA pp. 95-97; Trial Tr. pp. 196-198 (Danielle Thompson); ROA pp. 140-143; Trial Tr. pp. 241-244 (Lakesha Graham). However, once a shot was fired, individuals scattered in every direction. A few witnesses testified that they saw either the victim or the Appellant at the location prior to the shooting. See ROA p. 97; Trial Tr. p. 198 (Danielle Thompson); ROA pp. 141-142; Trial Tr. pp. 242-243 (Lakesha Graham).

The authorities did not develop the Appellant as a suspect for almost two years following the shooting. See ROA pp. 389-391; Trial Tr. pp. 490-492. The police focused on the Appellant after speaking with Edwin Middleton, a Charleston resident who knew both the Appellant and the victim. Middleton testified at trial that he observed the following sequence of events the night of the shooting: the Appellant walked into the business; the victim was behind the Appellant; the victim turned around; the Appellant came back out, held up his hand, and shot the victim in the back or neck area. ROA pp. 177-179; Trial Tr. pp. 278-280. No other witnesses corroborated Middleton's account of the shooting. Furthermore, no forensic evidence tied the Appellant, or any individual, to the crime.

In support of Middleton's testimony, the State presented two witnesses who claimed to have spoken to the Appellant regarding the incident. Both witnesses were incarcerated at the time of trial. Darrell Royal was impeached with a statement he made to authorities that Goodwin

confessed to him that he had killed the victim. See ROA pp. 300-301; Trial Tr. pp. 401-402. Royal denied at trial ever making such a statement. Maurice Fields testified that Goodwin told him that he had a discussion with the victim the night of the incident and that when the victim turned to walk away, Goodwin shot him in the head. ROA p. 346, lines 12-18; Trial Tr. p. 447, lines 12-18.

The Appellant did not testify at trial nor did he present any evidence. Following approximately two hours of deliberation, the jury found the Appellant guilty as charged.

ARGUMENT

I. The lower court erred in denying the Appellant's motion for a new trial pursuant to Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP.

A. How the Issue Arose Below

Following the jury's verdict, the trial court sentenced the Appellant to life imprisonment. ROA p. 500, lines 4-13; Trial Tr. p. 690, lines 4-13. Defense counsel then stated "I have several Motions. Can I reserve that until later, Your Honor?" ROA p. 500, lines 14-16; Trial Tr. p. 690, lines 14-16. The trial judge responded: "Certainly. I will be back here two weeks from now." ROA p. 500, lines 17-18; Trial Tr. p. 690, lines 17-18. On the sentencing sheet, the trial court specifically noted that the Appellant's motions were reserved for a later date. ROA p. 504.

Despite this colloquy, no formal motion was filed, and no subsequent hearing was held in the months following the trial. The next activity in the case occurred when the Appellant filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief in 2005. This application was denied without prejudice in 2007 due to the parties' agreement that timely post-trial motions had not been presented to the trial court and remained pending. PCR Order of Dismissal.

The Appellant then filed a post-trial motion based on Rule 29(a) and (b), SCRCrimP, in 2017. In the Rule 29(a) portion of that motion, the Appellant "would move to renew all arguments motion[s], objections and exceptions made at trial." ROA p. 508.

A hearing was convened on the Rule 29 motion on August 31, 2017. The State argued that the trial court "meant that I will hear your posttrial motions when I am back here in two weeks" when the judge stated that he would be back in two weeks following sentencing. ROA p. 530, lines 9-11. The State further argued that the Rule 29(a) portion of the motion should be dismissed because "they were never filed" until 2017. ROA p. 530, lines 12-24.

The trial court issued an order on January 19, 2018, denying the Rule 29 motion in all respects. Importantly for this appeal, the trial court concluded with regard to the Rule 29(a) motion that

[T]he Defendant's request for a new trial pursuant to Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP, should be denied as it was not timely filed. In pertinent part, Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP, provides that "except for motions for new trials based on after-discovered evidence, post-trial motions shall be made within ten (10) days after the imposition of the sentence". Although I extended this time by allowing the Defendant to make his post-trial motions when I returned to Charleston two weeks after the Defendant's conviction, no post-trial motions were filed or heard. Even assuming this time was extended again by the Court when the Defendant's PCR was dismissed in 2007, and once again when Ms. Blanchette was substituted as Defendant's counsel in March of 2014, the motion for a new trial pursuant to Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP, was not filed until March 29, 2017, some three years after Ms. Blanchette became involved in the case. There has been no satisfactory explanation for the delay of over 14 years in filing post-trial motions pursuant to Rule 29(a). I find the delay is unreasonable and the relief requested pursuant to Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP, is time barred.

ROA p. 588. The trial court then concluded that "there was no error of law controlling the Court's rulings which would entitle the Defendant to a new trial." ROA p. 588.

The Appellant now contends that the trial court's ruling on the timeliness of his Rule 29(a) motion was erroneous and should be reversed by this Court.

B. Standard of Review

"Except for motions for new trials based on after-discovered evidence, post-trial motions shall be made within ten (10) days after the imposition of the sentence." Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP. "[I]f the motion is not made within ten days of sentencing, the court will be without jurisdiction to entertain the motion." State v. Campbell, 376 S.C. 212, 216, 656 S.E.2d 371, 373 (2008). The authority granted by Rule 29(a) extends to only the subject matter set forth in the post-trial motion,

and does not confer upon the trial judge unfettered authority over the case. See State v. Warren, 392 S.C. 235, 708 S.E.2d 234 (Ct. App. 2011).

C. Discussion

At the outset, it is important to note that the Appellant does not contend that the trial court erred in denying the Appellant's motion for a new trial pursuant to Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP, on the merits. Instead, the Appellant contends that the trial court erred in finding the motion untimely. It is critical for the motion to have been made timely because if the motion was filed in an untimely manner, then the Appellant's appeal from his underlying conviction and sentence is also untimely. See Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP ("The time for appeal for all parties shall be stayed by a timely post-trial motion and shall run from the receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motion.")

The Appellant contends that post-trial motions were timely made. Both the trial transcript and the sentencing sheet reveal that the Appellant intended, and the judge understood, the Appellant to have made a timely post-trial motion at the time of trial. Following the imposition of sentence, defense counsel stated "I have several motions. Can I reserve that until later, Your Honor?" ROA p. 500, lines 14-16; Trial Tr. p. 690, lines 14-16. The trial judge then responded "Certainly. I will be back here two weeks from now." ROA p. 500, lines 17-18; Trial Tr. p. 690, lines 17-18. The post-trial motion was then memorialized in the sentencing sheet which noted that the Appellant's motions were reserved for a later date.

The central issue is which authority reserved its right during this discussion: the Appellant to make a post-trial motion or the trial court to hear a motion that had already been made. The Appellant contends that the latter interpretation is the proper conclusion to reach. Specifically, the Appellant argues that the reservation of the post-trial motions by the trial court vested the trial

court with the authority to consider the motions when it reconvened in this matter because the trial court reserved its ability to rule on them for a date that extended beyond the ten-day time frame set forth in Rule 29(a). This was even noted by the trial court in its order denying the motions as untimely, where the trial court found that it “extended th[e] time” permitted by Rule 29(a) for filing post-trial motions during sentencing when the judge stated that he would return to hear the motions two weeks after sentencing. The trial court, however, never possessed the authority to extend the filing time. See State v. Campbell, 376 S.C. at 216, 656 S.E.2d at 373 (“[I]f the motion is not made within ten days of sentencing, the court will be without jurisdiction to entertain the motion.”) Consequently, the trial judge’s statement that he would return in two weeks can only be properly considered a reservation of the authority to hear motions already made because to hold otherwise would be to render the trial judge’s reservation of the motions a nullity. Stated differently, if the trial judge’s statement is to have any meaning, the only interpretation that gives it validity is for it to constitute a reservation of the trial judge’s authority to hear post-trial motions.

Although the Appellant has not been able to locate a published opinion where a similar situation was encountered, the Appellant would note that this Court has interpreted a civil order in a similar fashion in the unpublished decision of Baird Pacific West v. Blue Water Sunset Park, Inc., 2004-UP-011 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Jan. 14, 2004). In Baird, the trial court granted summary judgment for Respondent Blue Water but reserved “Blue Water’s claim for attorney fees.” Id. at *1. Baird argued that the trial court’s subsequent ruling in favor for Blue Water on the matter of attorney’s fees was barred because Blue Water “did not file a motion within the ten-day time period prescribed by Rule 54, SCRCP.” Id. at *4. This Court rejected that argument, concluding that “the circuit court’s order expressly recognized that it reserved the matter of attorney’s fees for future determination. Under these circumstances, the circuit court’s continuing jurisdiction was in no

manner contingent upon Blue Water filing an additional motion within ten days following the grant of summary judgment.” Id. at *5.

Here, as in Baird, the specific reservation of a post-judgment motion vested the trial court with the continuing authority to hear the matter. No specific written motion needed to be filed again to invoke that authority. While the present situation is highly unusual—the post-trial motion was not heard for approximately fourteen years after the entry of judgment—it was still proper because of the trial court’s reservation of its authority to hear the motion that was made in a timely fashion. Accordingly, the Appellant contends that the trial court erred when it found that no post-trial motion had ever been made and that it did not have the authority to rule on the motion when it reconvened in this matter in 2017. Accordingly, the Appellant’s post-trial motions, and this appeal, should be found to be timely.

- II. The lower court erred in denying defense counsel's motion to be relieved as counsel due to a conflict of interest.**
- III. The lower court abused its discretion in admitting evidence that defense counsel represented Darrell Royal in an unrelated matter prior to the Appellant's trial.**

A. How the Issue Arose Below

At trial, the State introduced evidence that Darrell Royal, a friend of the Appellant, had been told by the Appellant that the Appellant shot the victim in this case. ROA p. 300, line 3-p. 301, line 6; Trial Tr. p. 401, line 3-p. 402, line 6. The State introduced this evidence by impeaching Royal with his statement to the authorities, which he denied giving and testified that he could not remember numerous portions of the statement.

At the outset of the trial, the trial judge took up numerous pretrial motions filed by the Appellant. Of particular import was a motion filed to exclude the testimony of Royal or, alternatively, to continue the case to determine whether or not a conflict of interest existed. ROA p. 2, lines 2-10; Trial Tr. p. 60, lines 2-10. Defense counsel informed the trial court that he had been notified the weekend prior to trial that Royal would be called as a witness. ROA p. 3, lines 16-22; Trial Tr. p. 61, lines 16-22. He additionally stated that he represented Royal "approximately six months ago in Charleston County General Sessions Court, and I've represented him in the past." ROA p. 2, line 24-p. 3, line 2; Trial Tr. p. 60, line 24-p. 61, line 2. Furthermore, defense counsel stated that he had "specifically spoken with him in this case." ROA p. 3, lines 3-4; Trial Tr. p. 61, lines 3-4. The trial court did not make a ruling at that point in time, but permitted defense counsel and the prosecutor to meet with Royal. See ROA pp. 5-8; Trial Tr. pp. 63-66.

The day following this meeting, defense counsel informed the trial court that “[i]n connection with this case, Darrell Royal was a suspect in the beginning. Darrell Royal had communications with me as his attorney. Those are attorney-client conversations.” ROA p. 11, lines 4-8; Trial Tr. p. 84, lines 4-8. Defense counsel then stated that he saw two potential resolutions to the situation: either have the Appellant waive any conflict of interest or to be relieved as counsel. ROA p. 12, lines 14-12; Trial Tr. p. 85, lines 14-20. The Appellant did not want to choose either option. ROA p. 12, lines 21-25; Trial Tr. p. 85, lines 21-25. So defense counsel then requested that Royal’s testimony be excluded or that he be relieved as counsel. ROA p. 13, lines 1-18; Trial Tr. p. 86, lines 1-18. The trial court rejected both options and found that

[N]obody has said that there is a conflict. Mr. Smiley has done exactly what he was supposed to do under the Code of Ethics. He has notified his client and he has notified the Court that there is that potential. And his client has told me that he understands that and he wants to keep him. So I am going to abide by that.

ROA p. 17, line 24-p. 18, line 6; Trial Tr. p. 90, line 24-p. 91, line 6.

Royal, thereafter, was permitted to testify. Not only did he testify regarding his statement, but an extensive amount of testimony was elicited, both by the State and the defense, regarding the fact that defense counsel had previously represented Royal and that defense counsel had spoken to Royal. ROA p. 309, line 1-p. 310, line 8; p. 322, line 17-p. 326, line 6; p. 330, line 16-p. 331, line 12; Trial Tr. p. 410, line 1-p. 411, line 8; p. 423, line 17-p. 427, line 6; p. 431, line 16-p. 432, line 12. Defense counsel renewed his objection to this line of testimony prior to the State’s introduction of the fact of representation on direct as well as prior to his questioning Royal about his representation; these objections were overruled by the trial court. See ROA p. 309, lines 10-12; p. 322, lines 11-14; Trial Tr. p. 410, lines 10-12; p. 423, lines 11-14. Notably, defense counsel did not ask Royal about his status as a suspect early in the investigation.

During the State's closing argument, the State argued that Royal's statement was the truth and that he was lying during his testimony at trial. Moreover, the State argued, over the repeated objections of defense counsel, that it was highly relevant that the Appellant's attorney had also represented Royal:

Remember what I asked him? I asked a very direct question, "Have you had an opportunity to speak with Jim Smiley?" Nope.

Mr. Smiley: I object. This is improper argument.

Mr. Kent: It came out in his testimony, Your Honor.

The Court: Go ahead.

Mr. Kent: I asked, "Did you speak to Jim Smiley?" "No." I asked him again, "Did you speak to Jim Smiley at any time this week?" "No." Okay.

Then on cross-examination, Mr. Smiley asked him, "We spoke on Monday, didn't we?" "Yes." "We spoke yesterday morning before you testified, earlier yesterday morning?" "Yes, we spoke." Interesting, isn't it?

It is even more interesting who Darrell Royal's former lawyer was.

Mr. Smiley: Your Honor, I am going to object again. I think that it is improper argument to suggest that I would suborn perjury in this courtroom.

Mr. Kent: Your Honor, that's—Thank you, Your Honor.

I just want you all to think about that.

ROA p. 480, line 23-p. 481, line 23. Trial Tr. p. 595, line 23-p. 596, line 23. The Appellant now contends that the trial court erred in numerous respects: in denying defense counsel's motion to be relieved, in admitting evidence that defense counsel represented Royal, and in permitting the State's closing argument seizing on that evidence, was erroneous.

B. Standard of Review

In criminal cases, this Court reviews errors of law only and is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless those findings are clearly erroneous. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2016). The admission or exclusion of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's decision will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 583, 698 S.E.2d 596, 601 (2010). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling either lacks evidentiary support or is controlled by an error of law. Id.

A motion to relieve counsel is also "addressed to the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Gregory, 364 S.C. 150, 152, 612 S.E.2d 449, 450 (2005). "An actual conflict of interest occurs where an attorney owes a duty to a party whose interests are adverse to the defendant[']s." Id. "The mere possibility defense counsel may have a conflict of interest is insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction." Id. at 152-153. "If a defense attorney owes duties to a party whose interests are adverse to those of the defendant, then an actual conflict exists." Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 438, 315 S.E.2d 809, 811 (1984) (citing Zuck v. Alabama, 588 F.2d 435, 439 (5th Cir. 1979)). If an actual conflict of interest exists, then prejudice is presumed. Thomas v. State, 346 S.C. 140, 551 S.E.2d 254 (2001).

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