**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
The Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**  
JUN 03 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

ANTWON DEANGELO GOODWIN



Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2018-000144

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 68383  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

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

#### **Rule 29(a) Motion**

Judge Burch ruled Goodwin's request for a new trial pursuant to Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP, was untimely. (R. p. 588.) In support of his finding, Judge Burch noted the post-trial motion was not properly filed in the two-week period following the conclusion of Goodwin's trial, nor was it filed for over three years following the order in which Ms. Blanchette was substituted as counsel. Finding the delay unreasonable, Judge Burch denied the motion.

As Appellant argues in his brief, "It is critical for the motion to have been made timely because if the motion was filed in an untimely manner, then the Appellant's appeal from his underlying conviction and sentence is also untimely." (IBOA, p. 10.) Goodwin argues the trial court reserved its right "to hear a motion that had already been made." (IBOA, p. 11.) Respondent disagrees.

The State does not contend a judge would lack the authority to hear motions at a later time when the motions are properly filed within the ten-day period following the conclusion of

the trial. Nor does the State argue the issue turns on whether Judge Burch had to authority to extend the time beyond the ten day period, although the State does not believe a circuit court judge may extend the time limits imposed by a court rule.<sup>2</sup> Instead, the State agrees with Judge Burch that the motions were not made or filed at all in the post-trial period, despite counsel's claim he would do so. Regardless of Judge Burch's statement in his order that he extended the time to file the motion, he found the motion untimely. That finding is a finding of fact, not a conclusion of law about his authority to do so. Because Judge Burch's finding is supported by the record, he did not abuse his discretion in making this finding on the Rule 29(a) motion.

Because the Rule 29(a) motion is untimely, the instant appeal is untimely and must be dismissed. *See* Rule 203(b)(2), SCACR. ("When a timely post-trial motion is made under Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP, the time to appeal shall be stayed and shall begin to run from receipt of written notice of entry of an order granting or denying such motion.") "Service of the notice of intent to appeal is a jurisdictional requirement, and this Court has no authority to extend or expand the time in which the notice of intent to appeal must be served." *Mears v. Mears*, 287 S.C. 168, 169, 337 S.E.2d 206, 207 (1985); *State v. Brown*, 344 S.C. 302, 305, 543 S.E.2d 568,

---

<sup>2</sup> *See, e.g., Citizens & S. Nat. Bank of S.C. v. Easton*, 310 S.C. 458, 460, 427 S.E.2d 640, 641 (1993) ("Here, the trial court was without authority to order a new trial beyond 10 days after entry of judgment, regardless of the pendency of the Rule 50(b) motion"); *see also State v. Campbell*, 376 S.C. 212, 215-16, 656 S.E.2d 371, 373 (2008) (holding a plea judge was without authority to hear a motion to vacate the sentence when the State did not timely file a motion following the imposition of the sentence). The Note to the 1991 Amendment to Rule 29, SCRCrimP, says the purpose of the language was to change "prior practice by allowing the parties up to ten (10) days to file post trial motions and by providing the circuit judge jurisdiction to hear and determine these motions despite the end of the term." Thus, though the term of court expires, a judge has authority to hear matters on the case as long as the motions are filed within ten days. Additionally, the instant case is distinguishable from the case cited by Appellant, *Baird Pacific West v. Blue Water Sunset Park Inc.*, 2004-UP-011, in which the court found the reservation of the issue of attorney's fees sufficiently extended the court's authority to hear the motion. In the instant case, there was no elaboration on any of the post-trial motions that would be filed, only a vague reference to "several motions" of an unspecified nature. (R. p. 500, lines 14-15.)

570 (Ct. App. 2001), overruled on other grounds by *State v. Oxner*, 391 S.C. 132, 705 S.E.2d 51 (2011).

Finally, to the extent Goodwin suggests he is entitled to a belated appeal because of Counsel's failure to file the post-trial motion, Respondent submits this consideration should not be made without a post-conviction evidentiary hearing in which Counsel offers some testimony concerning the discussions about the post-trial motions or Goodwin's desire to appeal. *See State v. Felder*, 290 S.C. 521, 522–23, 351 S.E.2d 852, 852 (1986) (holding the Court would not consider an ineffective assistance of counsel issue on appeal from a conviction and finding the claim should be brought in a proceeding for post-conviction relief.) Following a trial, counsel must make certain the defendant is made fully aware of the right to appeal, and in the absence of an intelligent waiver by the defendant, counsel must either initiate an appeal or comply with the procedure in *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967). *Simuel v. State*, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010) (citations omitted). The record before this Court is devoid of any testimony of Counsel Jim Smiley. During the motions hearing in 2017, Goodwin offered no testimony concerning his discussion with Smiley about his waiver of or his desire to pursue an appeal immediately following his conviction. (R. pp. 558-573.)

#### **Rule 29(b) Motion**

Judge Burch also denied Goodwin's motion for a new trial pursuant to Rule 29(b) because, though timely, the new testimony would not have changed the outcome of the case, was not material, was merely impeaching of previous testimony, and lacked any credibility. (R. pp. 589-590.) Appellant does not challenge the court's ruling on the merits, so this issue is not before the Court.

**DISCUSSION OF ISSUES TWO AND THREE, SHOULD THE COURT FIND THE  
APPEAL TIMELY FOR CONSIDERATION.**

- II. Counsel did not move to be relieved as counsel, instead moving to suppress the testimony of a witness, or, in the alternative, moving for a continuance, so the issue is not preserved for appeal. Even so, Goodwin did not move to have Counsel relieved and waived any potential conflict of interest.**

This issue is not preserved for review because no motion was made to relieve Counsel – it was only offered as an alternative remedy in the event Royal’s testimony was not excluded and if Goodwin elected not to waive any conflict of interest. The motion was not ruled upon by the trial court because Goodwin waived any conflict of interest. Even on the merits, Goodwin cannot show an actual conflict of interest existed because Royal divulged his previous role as a suspect in the crime. Counsel was not hampered by any attorney client privilege when he cross-examined Royal on his statement.

**Standard of Review**

Although the issue is not preserved, an appellate court must abide by the abuse of discretion standard on the merits of the underlying claim. *See State v. Childers*, 373 S.C. 367, 372, 645 S.E.2d 233, 235 (2007) (A motion to relieve counsel is addressed to the discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion); *State v. Graddick*, 345 S.C. 383, 385, 548 S.E.2d 210, 211 (2001)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *State v. McDonald*, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). The movant bears the burden to show satisfactory cause for removal. *Childers*, 373 S.C. at 372, 645 S.E.2d at 235 (citing *State v. Gregory*, 364 S.C.150, 152, 612 S.E.2d 449, 450 (2005); *State v. Graddick*, 345 S.C.383, 385, 548 S.E.2d 210, 211 (2001)).

### **How the Issue Arose at Trial: Goodwin's Waiver of Conflict**

After the jury was seated, defense counsel Jim Smiley moved to exclude the testimony of witness Darrell Royal, who was a former client of his. (R. p. 2, lines 2-6.) If the court were not inclined to grant the motion, Counsel asked for a continuance to determine whether a conflict of interest existed from his representation of Goodwin and his prior representation of Royal. (R. p. 2, lines 6-10.) Significantly, Counsel did not move to be relieved as counsel, nor did Goodwin make the request. Counsel explained Royal was initially a suspect in the case, but then law enforcement never followed up on that lead. (R. p. 2, lines 11-14.) Counsel said in his review of the discovery, there was nothing to indicate Royal would take the witness stand. (R. p. 2, lines 15-23.) Counsel said he represented Royal six months previously and had represented him multiple times in the past. Counsel said he had spoken with Royal specifically about the murder of Freddie Green. (R. p. 3, lines 1-4.)

Counsel said he learned that Royal gave a statement the week before that inculpated Goodwin. (R. p. 3, lines 10-15.) Counsel said the solicitor informed him the day before trial the State would be calling Royal. (R. p. 3, lines 16-22.) Counsel said he still maintained an attorney-client relationship with Royal and asked that his testimony be excluded. (R. p. 4, lines 1-13.) In the alternative, Counsel asked the court to grant a continuance so he could investigate whether a conflict of interest would prevent him from zealously representing Goodwin while protecting his attorney-client relationship with Royal. (R. p. 4, lines 14-19.)

Judge Burch noted his primary concern was the interests of Goodwin, then Counsel, and then those of Royal. (R. p. 4, lines 20-25.) The court instructed Counsel to consult with Royal and determine if Counsel's cross examination of him would present any problems. (R. p. 5, line 2 – p. 6, line 17.)

The solicitor told the court Royal said he contacted Counsel and told Smiley his name had been mentioned in the investigation of Green's murder, and Royal was concerned about retaliation from Green's family. (R. p. 6, lines 18-25.) Royal said Smiley called the Green family and told them to leave Royal alone. (R. p. 65, lines 1-7.) Again, the court asked Counsel, Goodwin, and the solicitor to meet with Royal to determine whether a potential for a conflict would arise. (R. p. 7, line 25 –p. 8, line 3.)

The following day, after the consultation, defense Counsel attempted to summarize the situation before the court:

The situation begins this way, is that Darrell Royal, who is a potential State's witness in the case, it became aware to me that he is an inculpatory witness on Sunday, January the 5<sup>th</sup>, at about 2:30. So this isn't a long-standing problem that we waited until court to take care of. It came up as the trial was being called.

I represent Mr. Royal, represented him in the past. In connection with this case, Darrell Royal was a suspect in the beginning. Darrell Royal had communications with me as his attorney. Those are attorney – client conversations. I don't know that in any form or fashion that that attorney – client conversation can be used in this courtroom but it does exist.

Mr. Goodwin, I have represented since he was arrested in this case. This case – the incident took place on December 12, 2000, and he was arrested in August 2002. I receive the initial discovery in this case on December 12, 2002. Then, as I said, the evidence concerning the conflict in just the last forty-eight hours.

I have explained to Mr. Goodwin his 6th Amendment rights, his 5th Amendment rights. I've explained to him what "attorney-client privilege" means also, Your Honor.

And I have explained to him that my job is to zealously represent him, and I've explained how those are competing interests.

**I asked my client, Mr. Goodwin, last night to waive any potential conflict.** Because I didn't know if it would or could come up any way, in any situation, whether there were other attorneys sitting here are not. He certainly knows that I'm prepared and want to represent him.

He is indigent client, a client that I took pro bono. I think that's important in this case. I am not a retained attorney. If I was not his attorney, he would rely on the very qualified Public Defender's office for Charleston County or an appointed attorney, whatever the case may be.

After advising him of his rights, all of his rights, his options – and his options, as I see them, are two:

That is, to waive any potential conflict that may exist from his position; or To not waive them and asked that I be relieved.

He doesn't want to do either of those. He says that he wishes that I continue to be his attorney, but he doesn't want to waive any of his rights and a trial is important to his life is this.

I am in a precarious position, Your Honor, so I did not – I did not go any further than that. I want to tell you that I don't think that he's playing any games with anybody. I am clear on that. He's in a difficult position, being advised by me and a very difficult position. So any guidance that this court may be able to help us with, we would be inclined to – at this point, since he has not signed that, I would ask, as I did yesterday, first that the testimony of Darrell Royal be excluded as hearsay evidence that would be brought in through a party opponent admission – or under *Lyle*, if it gets past that stage, Your Honor.

**In the alternative**, I would ask that I be relieved. I don't know any other way to protect Mr. Goodwin's position and my position.

(R. p. 10, line 20 – p. 13, line 18 (emphasis added).)

Judge Burch denied Counsel's motion to exclude the testimony of Royal, saying he would consider any objectionable portions of Royal's testimony when he testified. (R. p. 13, lines 19-23.) The judge then inquired of Goodwin whether he understood the situation as described by Counsel, and Goodwin said he did. (R. p. 13, line 23 – p. 14, line 2.)

The judge then noted that Counsel was still bound by his attorney client privilege to Royal, even if he were relieved, so Counsel could not release any information about Royal to another attorney representing Goodwin. (R. p. 14, lines 7-17.) The court then asked Goodwin whether, knowing the potential difficulty his attorney faced, he still wished to go forward with Mr. Smiley as his attorney. (R. p. 15, lines 4-15.) Goodwin said, "I do want him to remain my attorney but I would not like to waive my rights." (R. p. 15, lines 17-19.) The judge accepted his waiver, saying, "That's fine. That's all I need to hear." (R. p. 15, lines 20-21.)

The State asked to be heard, arguing there was no conflict and that the burden to prove a conflict was on the defendant. (R. p. 16, lines 13-22.) The State went on to argue Counsel should have known about a possible conflict two years ago when Royal contacted him about being

suspected of the murder originally. (R. p. 16, line 23 – p. 17, line 8.) The solicitor argued Counsel had to show more than just the possibility of a conflict, and “that’s just not enough.” (R. p. 17, lines 9-19.)

The trial court said Counsel had proceeded as he should have pursuant to the Code of Ethics by notifying his client and the court of a possible conflict. The judge found the client understood that position, and still wished for Counsel to continue in his representation, so he intended to abide by Goodwin’s wishes. (R. p. 17, line 20 – p. 18, line 6.)

When Counsel later renewed his objection, he did so during the testimony of Royal, in which he appeared to refer to an objection to the line of questioning, not to an objection to his continuing representation of Goodwin. (R. p. 309, lines 10-12; p. 322, lines 11-14.)

#### **Discussion**

The general rule of issue preservation states that if an issue was not raised and ruled upon below, it will not be considered for the first time on appeal. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691(2003); *State v. Lee*, 350 S.C. 125, 564 S.E.2d 372 (Ct.App.2002). The courts have “consistently refused to apply the plain error rule.” *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 306, 486 S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997) (citations omitted). “It is the responsibility of counsel to preserve issues for appellate review.” *Id.* The court has recognized some exceptions to the issue preservation rule, such as a claim of subject matter jurisdiction, or when the objection would be futile, or when the interests of minors or incompetent defendants are involved. *See Carter v. State*, 329 S.C. 355, 495 S.E.2d 773 (1998) (addressing subject matter jurisdiction); *State v. Higgenbottom*, 344 S.C. 11, 542 S.E.2d 718 (2001) (addressing the futility doctrine); *Caughman v. Caughman*, 247 S.C. 104, 109, 146 S.E.2d 93, 95 (1965) (holding that “the duty to protect the rights of incompetents has precedence over procedural rules otherwise limiting the scope of review.”)

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